1988

William and Judy McCleery, et al. v. Landforms Construction Corp., et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The Supreme Court of Utah has jurisdiction to consider and hear this appeal pursuant to the provisions of Section 3 of Article VIII of the Constitution of Utah, Rule 3 of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court, Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j) (1988), and Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The Second Judicial District Court entered Final Summary Judgment in favor of the third-party defendants, Bountiful City and Davis County, on October 11, 1988, and certified the Judgment for appeal. A notice of appeal was filed on October 25, 1988.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Was the District Court correct in concluding that the acts complained of in the First Amended Complaint and the Amended Third-Party Complaint involved the management of flood waters and the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems?

2. Was the District Court correct in classifying the activities of Bountiful City and Davis County, set forth in the Amended Third-Party Complaint and established during discovery, as governmental functions with absolute immunity?

3. Is Utah Code Ann. §63-30-3 (1986) unconstitutional in light of Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution?

4. Should the negligence and/or fault of Bountiful City and Davis County be compared by the jury on a special verdict form, along with the negligence and/or fault, if any,

of other parties to the litigation.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES

1. Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 22.
2. Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code Annotated, Sections 63-30-3, 8, 9, 10 and 10.5.
3. Comparative Fault Act, Utah Code Annotated, Sections 78-27-38, 40 and 41.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began as a property damage action brought by the plaintiffs (hereinafter "homeowners") against several defendants, including the owners and developers of land known as the Bridlewood Development. The homeowners' complaint, in substance, sought to recover compensation for property damage resulting from floods which occurred in 1986. Third-party plaintiffs brought an action against Bountiful City and Davis County for contribution, indemnity, and a comparison of fault by way of a third-party complaint.

Third-party plaintiffs seek review of the Order of the Second Judicial District Court granting summary judgment to third-party defendants (Bountiful City and Davis County) which was entered on October 11, 1988 (Addendum p. 1)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Third-party plaintiffs owned an interest in (hereinafter "landowners") or were involved in the planning, development and construction (hereinafter "developers") of improvements to real property located in Bountiful and known

as Bridlewood.

2. On or about October 19, 1987, homeowners filed an amended complaint wherein they alleged that the landowners and developers are liable to them for damages. (R. 40; Addendum p. 7)

3. The landowners and developers subsequently filed an amended third-party complaint against Bountiful City and Davis County alleging that they are entitled to indemnity, contribution, and/or comparison of fault of all parties, including Bountiful City and Davis County, pursuant to current comparative fault statutes. (R. 414; Addendum p. 16)

4. The landowners retained the developers to develop the property. (Sandberg Depo. p. 14)

5. The developers worked closely with Bountiful City and Davis County to comply with their rules, regulations and ordinances regarding the development of a residential subdivision. (R. 484)

6. The developers complied with or exceeded all County and City ordinances while constructing the Bridlewood Subdivision. (R. 484)

7. The developers were required to obtain final approval of their plans from the Bountiful City Planning and Zoning Commission, City Council, and City Engineer prior to beginning actual construction of the project. (R. 488)

8. The developers were aware that flood control measures would be required during the construction process. The

developers agreed to abide by the requirements of Bountiful City.

9. It was represented to the developers by Jack Balling, Bountiful City Engineer, that he (Balling) would also require the approval of Davis County before he allowed the developers to proceed with flood control measures in the subdivision project. (Sandberg Depo. pp. 29, 264; Jenkins Depo. pp. 100-105) Throughout the entire construction of the Bridlewood project, Davis County was aware of what was transpiring. (Sandberg Depo. p. 32)

10. The storm drainage system for the Bridlewood project had to be specifically approved by Davis County. (Jenkins Depo. p. 100; Sandberg Depo. p. 265) When the Bridlewood project was annexed by Bountiful City, it was agreed that Davis County would look over the plans to ensure the plans met the County's standards (Jenkins Depo. p. 101) The County was to review the progress of the storm drainage system as the project developed. (Jenkins Depo. p. 101)

11. Davis County inspectors periodically visited the Bridlewood job site to inspect the work being done, including the installation of interim flood control facilities. (Sandberg Depo. pp. 72-73, 75, 105, 174, 240)

12. The developers were granted final approval to proceed with the development of the Bridlewood project on September 11, 1985. (Sandberg Depo. p. 49)

13. The developers planned to, and did in fact, develop Bridlewood in three separate phases. (Balling Depo.

p. 85) However, Bountiful City and Davis County imposed a requirement on the developers that an access road be constructed in Bridlewood from the top of the subdivision to the bottom prior to the development of the first phase. (Balling Depo. p. 85)

14. The developers initially intended to construct a dead-end road in the first phase of Bridlewood and extend the road into the second and third phases when development of those phases commenced. (Balling Depo. p. 90) However, when development of Bridlewood actually started, the developers were required by the City and the County to construct the access road in its entirety, rather than in phases. (Balling Depo. pp. 128-129) The purpose of the access road was to provide access to emergency vehicles, fire, police, and other service vehicles and personnel. (Balling Depo. p. 88)

15. When the access road was excavated, the property was necessarily denuded of some vegetation. (Balling Depo. p. 90)

16. Construction of the road in Bridlewood required that deep cuts be made in the terrain, some at a depth of 20 feet. (Sandberg Depo. p. 52)

17. Immediately subsequent to making the cuts for the road in the fall of 1985, the developers planned to install a storm sewer system and build an on-site detention basin. (Sandberg Depo. p. 54) In the plans submitted by the developers and approved by Bountiful City, the developers proposed

constructing their own on-site detention basin to accommodate runoff. (Sandberg Depo. p. 38; Balling Depo. p. 27; Jenkins Depo. p. 104-105)

18. Prior to and at or near this time period, Davis County was also in the process of deciding whether or not to build a regional detention basin. (Sandberg Depo. p. 65) Davis County had been considering constructing a regional storm detention basin since 1984 or 1985. Davis County had been working with North Salt Lake to bring a major storm drainage line up 3800 South to a point on the east side of Main Street or U.S. 89 with the intent of eventually bringing that facility on east to serve the areas east of Orchard Drive (the area of the Bridlewood Subdivision). (R. 350-51)

19. Nevertheless, it was the understanding of the developers when they received final approval for the Bridlewood project that the decision to either build their own on-site detention basin or to participate in a regional detention basin was entirely within the control of the developers. (Sandberg Depo. p. 56)

20. In the minutes of a special meeting of the Bountiful City Planning Commission, final approval was given to the Bridlewood project subject to the condition that the developers "provide storm detention for the runoff in the Hooper Canyon drainage basin with a release rate of 2 cfs. This may be provided on the Bridlewood property or on the site for South Davis Boulevard through an agreement with Davis

County Commission" (Deposition Exhibit No. 65)

21. The developers began the excavation and construction of the Bridlewood project with the clear understanding that they could utilize their own on-site detention basin if they desired. (Sandberg Depo. p. 66)

22. In December of 1985 or January of 1986, the developers were informed by Jack Balling that, instead of constructing an on-site detention basin, they would have to contribute to the regional detention basin, which the County had decided to build, and that he (Balling) would not allow the developers to move ahead with the project until appropriate arrangements had been made. (Sandberg Depo. p. 56)

23. After Bountiful City imposed the requirement that developers participate in the regional detention basin, Bountiful City and Davis County delayed until May of 1986 in reaching an agreement with the developers. (Sandberg Depo. p. 66)

24. The delay of Bountiful City and Davis County with respect to the regional detention basin was a constant concern to third-party plaintiffs. On January 16, 1986, Mark Sandberg, one of the developers, sent a letter to Davis County Commissioner Tippetts outlining his concern that the County would not have the regional detention basin on line on time. He stated:

We are now ready to start construction of our storm drainage system. It is our desire to move ahead immediately with construction of the storm retention pond prior to the spring run off.

During earlier discussions with the county, you have expressed a desire for us not to construct

our detention pond and participate with you in construction of a larger detention pond at a future crossing site at the Hooper Draw by Davis Blvd. We would still like to participate with the county on this venture, however, retention of our spring run-off and moving ahead with our lot development has become a critical item." (Emphasis added) (Deposition Exhibit No. 87)

25. On January 23, 1986, Sid Smith, Davis County Flood Control Director, informed David Bird (a representative of the Consortium, the engineering company retained by the developers) that he (Smith) believed construction could begin on the regional detention basin within 90 days (i.e., approximately March 23, 1986). (Deposition Exhibit No. 57)

26. By April, 1986, frustrated by the lengthy delay and in an effort to speed up the construction of the regional detention basin, the developers sent Davis County a \$28,500 check, which constituted one-half of developers' monetary obligation toward the regional detention basin. This money was sent even before an "official" agreement was reached on May 12, 1986, regarding construction of the regional detention basin. (Jenkins Depo. p. 145; Deposition Exhibit 106)

27. On May 12, 1986, one of the landowners executed a contract with Davis County which obligated Davis County to put the regional detention basin on line within eight months (i.e., approximately December of 1986). (Sandberg Depo. p. 73; Deposition Exhibit No. 67)

28. The regional detention basin was not timely completed. It did not begin to offer any protection from flood waters until late April of 1987 and was not fully com-

pleted until early October of 1987. (Smith Depo. p. 37)

29. The controversy concerning the location of the regional detention basin site delayed the Bridlewood project approximately six months. If the developers had been allowed to utilize an on-site detention basin as originally designed and approved, a fully operational storm sewer system would have been in operation at the time of the major summer storms which caused damage alleged by plaintiffs. (Sandberg Depo. p. 103)

30. The developers attempted to remedy the failure of the County to have the regional detention basin in place by installing temporary flood control measures. These temporary flood control devices were approved by, and in some cases directed by, Bountiful City. (Sandberg Depo. pp. 57, 58, 154) The temporary measures were better than what was suggested or expected by Bountiful City. (Balling Depo. p. 75) Davis County characterized the interim flood control measures as "state of the art." (Smith Depo. pp. 98, 99)

31. Heavy "100-year storms" occurred on July 23 and August 20, 1986, which combined with the conditions then existing on the Bridlewood Subdivision caused the plaintiffs to sustain the damages for which they seek recovery in this lawsuit. (R. 40)

32. When the rainstorms did occur, neither Bountiful City nor Davis County undertook to manage the "flood waters" generated from the rainfall in the Bridlewood development area.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The judgment of the trial court should be reversed for several fundamental reasons, any one of which standing alone is sufficient to merit reversal.

A. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-3 (1986) is Inapplicable to This Case.

The activities of Bountiful City and Davis County which are at issue in this action do not involve decisions relating to the management of flood waters or the construction, repair, and operation of flood and storm systems. The acts complained of involve unwarranted delays in decision making, as well as improper requirements imposed on those involved with the development and construction of the Bridlewood Project.

Bountiful City and Davis County are attempting to escape liability by arguing that their actions involved the construction, repair, and operation of flood and storm systems. This argument is made by focusing on the result of the negligent acts (or inaction) rather than the acts themselves. The activities of Bountiful City and Davis County primarily involve delay in making a decision regarding the regional detention basin, requiring the developers to participate in a regional detention basin, and foreclosing the option of constructing their own on-site detention basin, as well as negligent decision making in requiring the roadway to be cut in one phase, rather than three phases. Davis County and Bountiful City were not involved in managing the flood waters even after the tremendous 100-year storms. Further, Davis

County and Bountiful City did not construct, repair, or operate a flood or storm system on the Bridlewood Project. That their negligent acts resulted in a flood should not operate to place them within the confines of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

B. Bountiful City's and Davis County's Activities Do Not Constitute Governmental Functions. Even if the Acts of Davis County and Bountiful City Are Found to be Governmental Functions, Such a Conclusion Results Merely in the Granting of Qualified Immunity.

Because Bountiful City's and Davis County's activities are not acts involving the management of flood waters or the construction, repair or operation of flood or storm systems, such activities are not statutorily accorded "governmental function" status. Since the activities do not involve governmental functions, the qualified immunity bestowed by the Governmental Immunity Act is inapplicable.

The acts of Bountiful City and Davis County do not constitute a governmental functions under Utah case law. "[T]he test for determining governmental immunity is whether the activity under consideration is of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency or that it is essential to the core of governmental activity."

Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corp., 605 P.2d 1230, 1236-37

(Utah 1980). (The expanded statutory definition of governmental function did not become effective until 1987 and therefore is inapplicable to this action.) Bountiful City's and Davis County's actions in requiring the road to be cut in one phase instead of three distinct phases, the requirement that the

developers participate in a regional detention basin as opposed to constructing their own on-site facilities, and the delay in getting the regional detention basin operational, clearly do not satisfy the "governmental function" test. Because Bountiful City's and Davis County's actions cannot be classified as governmental functions, they therefore enjoy no immunity for those actions.

Even if this Court concludes that Bountiful City's and Davis County's activities do satisfy the case law or statutory definition of governmental function, the existence of governmental immunity is not established. The Utah Governmental Immunity Act grants only qualified immunity to governmental entities involved in governmental functions subject to the express waivers of immunity contained in Utah Code Ann. §§63-30-8 through 10.5.

Utah Code Ann. §63-30-8 (1986), covering injuries caused by defective or dangerous roadways, applies to Bountiful City's and Davis County's requirement that the access road be built in one phase. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-9 (1986) provides for the waiver of immunity for injuries caused by the dangerous or defective condition of any public improvement. This provision is also applicable to the access road issue. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-10 (1986) covers the waiver of immunity for negligent acts committed by employees of governmental entities. This waiver pertains to the improper and unwarranted requirements imposed upon the third-party

plaintiffs by the City and County. Finally, Utah Code Ann. §63-30-10.5 (Supp. 1988) provides for the waiver of immunity when a governmental entity takes or damages private property without just compensation.

C. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-3 (1986) is Unconstitutional.

Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution provides that "Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation." It is apparent that the manner in which Utah Code Ann. §63-30-3 (1986) is being applied at the trial level is inconsistent and in contravention of this constitutional mandate. In this case, §63-30-3 is being applied so as to take or damage private property without just compensation.

D. The Fault of Davis County and Bountiful City Must Be Compared.

A final important point raised on appeal is the apportionment of liability, even if Bountiful City and Davis County are eventually found to be immune.

The Utah Comparative Fault Act states that no defendant is liable to a person seeking recovery for any amount greater than the proportion of fault attributable to that defendant. This in effect abolishes the concept of joint and several liability in Utah. If Bountiful City's and Davis County's negligence is not allowed to be weighed and apportioned by the jury, it is highly likely that the third-party plaintiffs will be assessed a damage award that is much greater than the proportion of fault actually attributable to them. This result

is in conflict with the statutory purpose. Releasing Bountiful City and Davis County from all liability, and not allowing the jury to apportion their negligence, will in effect subject third-party plaintiffs to joint and several liability.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE ACTIONS TAKEN BY BOUNTIFUL CITY AND DAVIS COUNTY IN RELATION TO THE BRIDLEWOOD PROJECT DID NOT INVOLVE THE MANAGEMENT OF FLOOD WATERS OR THE CONSTRUCTION, REPAIR, AND OPERATION OF FLOOD AND STORM SYSTEMS.

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act §63-30-3 (1986) states in pertinent part:

The management of flood waters and other natural disasters and the construction, repair, and operation of flood and storm systems by governmental entities are considered to be governmental functions, and governmental entities and their officers and employees are immune from suit for any injury or damage resulting from those activities.

The immunity granted by this section applies to governmental entities in only two specific situations: (1) the management of flood waters and other natural disasters, and (2) the construction, repair, and operation of flood and storm systems. Bountiful City and Davis County assert that their actions concerning the Bridlewood development are specifically granted immunity by this statute. Such reliance is misplaced.

Before analyzing the two distinct activities granted governmental function status by the act, it is useful to discuss the two main areas in which the third-party plaintiffs' claim can be divided. First, Bountiful City and Davis County

imposed a requirement that an access road be constructed in a single phase, rather than in the three phases as had been initially planned. Second, the County and City delayed in getting the regional detention basin on line, and foreclosed the developers' option to construct their own on-site detention facilities.

A. Roadway

As a condition to allowing construction to proceed on the Bridlewood Project, Davis County and Bountiful City required the developers to construct an access road from top to bottom of the Bridlewood Project. The developers initially intended to construct the road in three phases, but the City and County forced the developers to construct the entire road at once.

Despite the concerns voiced by the developers, particularly Mark Sandberg, a large cut was required to be made through the entire length of the Bridlewood Project. In constructing the roadway, a significant amount of vegetation had to be stripped from the area.

The unfinished road operated as an artificial stream bed for runoff water which increased the amount and speed of runoff flowing through the Bridlewood Project. Additionally, the denuding of vegetation in constructing the road contributed to the problem.

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