1988

William and Judy McCleery, et al. v. Landforms Construction Corp., et al. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

A. The action of Bountiful with respect to the Bridlewood Subdivision involved the management of flood waters or the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems and was thus a governmental function with absolute immunity.

In plaintiffs' Amended Complaint, they allege that the defendants (Third-Party Plaintiffs and others) through their acts and omissions negligently and carelessly planned, designed and developed flood control improvements, causing plaintiffs damages. In Landforms Amended Third-Party Complaint they allege that the flood and storm control work was performed in accordance with Bountiful City's requirements and they were prevented from developing a storm detention basin and that Bountiful delayed construction of the subdivision; delayed making a decision on the construction of a regional detention basin; required a road from top to bottom of the project. All of these acts complained of relate to the management of flood waters or the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems.

B. The second paragraph of Section 63-30-3 of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act (at all times hereafter, the "Act") granted absolute immunity for the management of flood waters and the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems by governmental entities.

C. Even if the actions of the City was not a governmental function under Section 63-30-3 of the Act, which it was, such actions were governmental functions under the test in Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corp., *infra*. The actions are of "such a unique nature that it can be only performed by a governmental agency or that it is essential to the core of governmental activity".

D. Immunity is not waived for injury from dangerous or defective structures or other improvements, or for injury caused by defective condition of highway, bridges or other structures, because those acts are not elements of the causes of actions and were not complained of in the Amended Complaint or the Amended Third-Party Complaint. Additionally, Section 63-30-3 of the Act grants absolute immunity.

E. The waiver under Section 63-30-10.5 of the Act does not apply as it was enacted after the acts complained of and the damages sustained. Additionally, the "taking" or "damage" of private property does not relate to unintentional damage or negligence sounding in tort.

F. Article I, Section 22 of the Utah Constitution does not render Section 63-30-3 of the Act invalid. The constitutional provision is not self-executing and does not include unintentional or negligent damages sounding in tort.

G. Granting absolute immunity is not inconsistent with the Utah Comparative Fault Act. The Comparative Fault Act does not require the inclusion of all parties to the action and the court, even so, can consider the comparative fault of all parties to an occurrence or incident even though some of them are not party litigants.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE ACTIONS TAKEN BY BOUNTIFUL CITY IN
RELATION TO THE BRIDLEWOOD PROJECT INVOLVED
THE MANAGEMENT OF FLOOD WATERS AND THE
CONSTRUCTION, REPAIR AND OPERATION OF FLOOD
AND STORM SYSTEMS AND WAS A GOVERNMENTAL
FUNCTION WITH ABSOLUTE IMMUNITY

A. Governmental Function

Landforms suggests that the actions taken by Bountiful City in relation to the Bridlewood project did not involve the management of flood waters or the construction, repair, or operation of flood and storm systems.

To consider this issue we must go to plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint (R.40) and Landforms Amended Third-Party Complaint. (R.418). In plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint it is alleged that the defendants (third-party plaintiffs and others) through their acts and omissions negligently and carelessly planned, designed and developed and constructed improvements which changed natural conditions and contour of the property, thus increasing, aggravating, concentrating and diverting the natural flow of runoff and causing flood damage. And from the foregoing the defendants were negligent, trespassed, caused a nuisance and intentionally inflicted and caused emotional distress.

Landforms' Amended Third-Party Complaint alleges:

(Paraphrased)

(a) Flood and storm control work performed by third-party plaintiffs was in accordance with Bountiful City and Davis County requirements. This work:

(1) Prevented third-party plaintiffs from developing their own storm detention basin.

(2) Delayed construction of the subdivision which caused potential flood hazards.

(3) Delayed making a decision on the construction of a regional storm detention basin.

(4) Required a road from top to bottom of the project which acted as a funnel or channel for waters which flowed in plaintiff's property and caused damage.

In the affidavit and supplemental affidavit of Jack P. Balling, Bountiful City Engineer, he indicated that:

4. One of the purposes of streets and the purposes of curbs, gutters, inlet boxes and storm drain lines and storm detention basins are for the collection and management of storm waters. (Affidavit).

3. The flood and storm water systems devised by Davis County and Bountiful City consists of creeks and waterways; a complex of streets, curbs, gutters, inlet boxes and storm drain pipes, culverts and water detention basins. (Supplemental Affidavit).

4. The streets, curbs, gutters, inlet boxes, storm drain pipes, culverts and water detention basins within the Bridlewood Subdivision and the plans and construction of the particular regional detention basin mentioned in the third-party plaintiffs' complaint is a part of this system and is within the Hooper Canyon drainage district system. (Supplemental Affidavit).

The lower court granted Bountiful's motion for summary judgment and concluded as a finding of fact:

The immunity granted by the Act extends to the acts or the failure to do the acts of planning, designing, constructing, repairing and operating or managing flood waters.

It is quite evident that the acts complained of in plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint and the Amended Third-Party Complaint were in the management of flood waters or in the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems

and involved acts or the failure to act to do the acts of planning, designing, constructing, repairing and operating or managing flood waters.

B. Absolute Immunity

Section 63-30-3 of the Act, as amended, grants absolute immunity to governmental entities engaged in the management of flood waters and the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems.

During its 1984 budget session the Utah Legislature passed a "Flood Relief" Bill, Senate Bill 97, that contained an amendment to Section 63-30-3 of the Act. The Section with the amended portion reads as follows:

Except as may be otherwise provided in this [act] Chapter, all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function, governmentally-owned hospital, nursing home, or other governmental health care facility, and from any approved medical, nursing or other professional health care clinical training program conducted in either public or private facilities.

The management of flood waters and the construction, repair, and the operation of flood and storm systems by governmental entities are considered to be governmental functions, and, governmental entities and their officers and employees are immune from suit for any injury or damage resulting from these activities.

(Emphasis added)

It should be noted that 63-30-3 of the Act is divided into two independent provisions. Prior to 1984 the first paragraph existed alone, granting an immunity from suit qualified by the phrase "except as may be otherwise provided in this Chapter".

Following the statewide floods of 1983, the

Legislature amended Section 3 by adding the second paragraph. That new provision gives an absolute and unqualified immunity from suit to governmental entities for flood and storm-related activities.

The qualifying language found in the first paragraph of Section 63-30-3 of the Act does not apply to the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems. If the Legislature had intended for the qualifying phrase to carry over to the new provision, it would have completed the amendment at that point where it defined these activities as a "governmental function" and would have simply added it to the first paragraph rather than creating an entirely new paragraph. By enacting a second paragraph with the clear language that governmental entities and their officers and employees "are immune from suit for any injury or damage resulting from" flood related activities, however, the Legislature intended and accomplished the statement that such activities are given absolute immunity.

Decisions rendered by the First, Second, Third, Fourth Judicial Districts, with factual similarities and identical legal issues, as the incident case, have held that governmental entities are immune from suit for the management of flood waters and the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems. Although these decisions are not binding on this court, they do provide persuasive authority and this court should adhere to these consistent, well-reasoned decisions.

POINT II

THE ACTIONS TAKEN BY BOUNTIFUL CITY IN THE MANAGEMENT OF FLOOD WATERS AND THE CONSTRUCTION, REPAIR AND OPERATION OF FLOOD AND STORM SYSTEMS, WAS A GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTION

A. A Governmental Function

Landforms argues that the actions taken by Bountiful City are not governmental functions. In Point I Bountiful argued that the actions taken by Bountiful involved the management of flood waters and the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems. It then follows that such activities are governmental functions by virtue of paragraph 2 of Section 63-30-3 of the Act which provides:

The management of flood waters and other natural disasters and the construction, repair and operation of flood and storm systems by governmental entities are considered to be governmental functions and governmental entities and their officers and employees are immune from suit for any injury or damage resulting from these activities. (Emphasis added)

We submit that this statute is controlling and dispositive. We hesitate to argue any alternative position, but will do so. Even if the foregoing Section is not controlling, which we firmly submit that it is, under all other tests the actions of Bountiful City were "governmental functions". The actions were governmental functions under the test in Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corp., 605 P.2d 1230 (Utah, 1980) at page 1236:

The [Test] for determining governmental immunity is whether the activity under consideration is of such a unique nature that it can only be performed

by a governmental agency or that it is essential to the core of governmental activity.

In this situation only a government can make decisions on a city-wide flood control system or establish a city-wide street system or approve a subdivision. Such actions are clearly a governmental function under Standiford, supra.

B. Immunity Not Waived.

No statutory waivers apply to this situation as immunity is absolute. Landforms argue a waiver under Section 63-30-8 of the Act, a waiver of immunity for injury caused by defective, unsafe or dangerous condition of highways, bridges or other structures. It is not alleged either in plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint or in the Amended Third-Party Complaint that there was a defective, unsafe or dangerous condition of a highway, bridge or other structures.

Landforms argues a waiver under Section 63-30-9, which provides for a waiver of immunity for injury from dangerous or defective public buildings, structures or other public improvements. In plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint and in Landforms Amended Third-Party Complaint they do not allege a dangerous, defective structure, dam, reservoir or other public improvement and they cannot raise it on appeal.

Again, it is not shown that a dam, reservoir or other public improvement was defectively made. Nothing broke or collapsed due to being defectively made.

Landforms next argue a waiver under Section 63-30-10 of the Act, which provides for a waiver of immunity for injury caused by the negligent act or omission of an employee, but provides there is no waiver if the negligence:

(a) Arises from the exercise or performance of or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function.

In this case the decisions of whether to have a regional detention basin or not and whether to have a road put in fully or in phases, are discretionary. Gleave v. Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company, 749 P.2d 660 (Utah, app, 1988) sets forth an approach to this issue:

More recently in Little v. Utah State Division of Family Services, 667 P.2d 49 (Utah, 1983), the Court adopted the following test for distinguishing between functions at the policy-making level from those at the operational level, requiring affirmative answers to four preliminary questions in order for an act to be purely discretionary:

(1) Does the challenged act, omission, or decision necessarily involve a basic governmental policy, program or objective?

(2) Is the question, act, omission or decision essential to the realization or accomplishment of that policy, program or objective, as opposed to one which would not change the course or direction of the policy, program or objective?

(3) Does the act, omission or decision require the exercise of basic policy evaluation, judgment and expertise on the part of the governmental agency involved?

(4) Does the governmental agency involved possess the requisite constitutional statutory or lawful authority and duty to do or make the challenged act, omission or decision?

In this particular case the actions of Bountiful complained of by Landforms were purely discretionary for the following reasons:

(1) The challenged acts (full-length road and regional detention basin) involve basic governmental policies, programs or objectives. A coherent, workable street plan is a policy of the City. Also, a flood control system utilizing streets and regional detention basins is a governmental program and objective.

(2) Landforms urge that the local detention basin system was better but this would change the course and direction of the government's policies, programs and objectives. The same is true for streets.

(3) The decisions concerning streets and a regional detention basin system, are an exercise of a basic policy evaluation and judgment based on the expertise on the part of the government.

(4) The actions of Bountiful are fully authorized by lawful authority. The authority to lay out streets is given in Section 10-8-8, UCA, 1953, and to approve subdivisions in Section 57-5-3, UCA, 1953. The city's plan of a regional detention system is pursuant to a county-wide flood control system, authorized by Davis County Ordinance No. 01-87.

Meeting all four requirements the actions complained of were purely discretionary and therefore immunity is not waived under 63-30-10.

Plaintiff also contends that the 1987 enactment of Section 63-30-10.5 of the Act now authorizes the maintenance of the suit for the "taking" or "damage" of private property for public use without just compensation. The City concurs that such a suit may be brought if the Legislature has enacted appropriate enabling legislation. They have not done so.

In the instant case, Section 63-30-10.5 is of no avail to third-party plaintiffs for two reasons: (1) The statute gives rise to a new cause of action which did not exist prior to April, 1987, (the effective date) and, (2) The statute does not contemplate suit sounding in tort or negligence. In paragraph 26 of plaintiff's First Amended Complaint, they alleged that instances of flooding "occurred on numerous occasions since December, 1985, and as recent as August, 1987....". In third-party defendant Bountiful's First Set of Interrogatories to Plaintiffs, the question was asked of the plaintiffs to indicate the dates of all floods which plaintiffs allege caused them damages. The answer to that interrogatory no. 1 was the first week in December, 1985, on or about March 9, 1986, on or about July 23, 1986, on or about August 20, 1986, and September, 1986.

Section 63-30-10.5 is not retroactive. The principles relating to retroactive application of laws enacted by the Legislature are settled in Okland Construction Company v. Industrial Commission, 520 P.2d 108 (Utah, 1974). A later statute or amendment should not be

applied in a retroactive manner to deprive a party of his rights or impose a greater liability upon him. That principle has no application when the latter statute or amendment deals only with the clarification or application as to how the laws should have been understood prior to its enactment. This court stated in Carlucci v. Utah State Industrial Commission, 725 P.2d 1335 (Utah, 1986)

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